OWENS & MINOR INC/VA/ Form 10-Q July 30, 2014 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

\_\_\_\_\_

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2014 OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-9810

\_\_\_\_\_

Owens & Minor, Inc.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Virginia 54-1701843 (State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

9120 Lockwood Boulevard,

Mechanicsville, Virginia 23116

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Post Office Box 27626,

Richmond, Virginia 23261-7626

(Mailing address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code) Registrant's telephone number, including area code (804) 723-7000

\_\_\_\_\_

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "larger accelerated filer", "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer o (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes "No x

The number of shares of Owens & Minor, Inc.'s common stock outstanding as of July 25, 2014, was 63,066,654 shares.

# Table of Contents

Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Index

Part I. Finan	ncial Information	Page
Item 1.	Financial Statements Consolidated Statements of Income—Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income—Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013	3 3 4
	Consolidated Balance Sheets—June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity—Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	5 6 7 8
Item 2. Item 3. Item 4. Part II. Other	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	21 27 28
Fart II. Othe Item 1. Item 1A. Item 2. Item 6.	Legal Proceedings	28 28 28 30
2		

### **Table of Contents**

Part I. Financial Information Item 1. Financial Statements Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Income (unaudited)

	Three Months	Ended June 30,	Six Months E	nded June 30,
(in thousands, except per share data)	2014	2013	2014	2013
Net revenue	\$2,305,858	\$2,236,077	\$4,562,239	\$4,482,461
Cost of goods sold	2,023,586	1,962,646	3,998,771	3,929,979
Gross margin	282,272	273,431	563,468	552,482
Selling, general and administrative expenses	225,838	212,548	451,448	430,269
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges	7,593	638	10,855	2,648
Depreciation and amortization	13,892	12,276	27,756	24,905
Other operating income, net	(2,152	) (2,081	(9,978	) (3,274
Operating earnings	37,101	50,050	83,387	97,934
Interest expense, net	3,342	3,248	6,589	6,446
Income before income taxes	33,759	46,802	76,798	91,488
Income tax provision	13,883	17,930	31,436	36,518
Net income	\$19,876	\$28,872	\$45,362	\$54,970
Net income per common share:				
Basic	\$0.32	\$0.46	\$0.72	\$0.87
Diluted	\$0.32	\$0.46	\$0.72	\$0.87
Cash dividends per common share	\$0.25	\$0.24	\$0.50	\$0.48

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

# **Table of Contents**

Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (unaudited)

	Three Months	Ended	June 30,	Six Months En	ded June 30	),
(in thousands)	2014	2013	3	2014	2013	
Net income	\$19,876	\$28,	872	\$45,362	\$54,970	
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:						
Currency translation adjustments (net of income tax						
of \$0 in 2014 and income tax expense of \$56 and	(570	1,68	3	(103	(6,144	)
benefit of \$539 in 2013)						
Change in unrecognized net periodic pension costs						
(net of income tax expense of \$90 and \$187 in 2014	112	209		219	417	
and \$132 and \$266 in 2013)						
Other (net of income tax benefit of \$8 and \$16 in	15	(12	,	6	(25	`
2014 and \$8 and \$16 in 2013)	13	(12	)	6	(25	)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	(443	1,88	0	122	(5,752	)
Comprehensive income	\$19,433	\$30,	752	\$45,484	\$49,218	

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

# Table of Contents

Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Balance Sheets (unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)	June 30, 2014	December 31, 2013
Assets	2014	2013
Current assets		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$92,027	\$101,905
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowances of \$15,328 and \$15,030	545,179	572,854
Merchandise inventories	820,882	771,663
Other current assets	287,844	279,510
Total current assets	1,745,932	1,725,932
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of \$149,361 and \$137,526	207,140	191,961
Goodwill, net	275,975	275,439
Intangible assets, net	38,679	40,406
Other assets, net	96,085	90,304
Total assets	\$2,363,811	\$2,324,042
Liabilities and equity	, , ,-	7- 7-
Current liabilities		
Accounts payable	\$698,648	\$643,872
Accrued payroll and related liabilities	29,691	23,296
Deferred income taxes	38,951	41,613
Other accrued liabilities	251,015	280,398
Total current liabilities	1,018,305	989,179
Long-term debt, excluding current portion	219,098	213,815
Deferred income taxes	42,080	43,727
Other liabilities	52,943	52,278
Total liabilities	1,332,426	1,298,999
Commitments and contingencies		
Equity		
Owens & Minor, Inc. shareholders' equity:		
Preferred stock, par value \$100 per share, authorized - 10,000 shares, Series A		
Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock; none issued		
Common stock, par value \$2 per share; authorized - 200,000 shares; issued and	126,133	126,193
outstanding - 63,066 shares and 63,096 shares		
Paid-in capital	199,019	196,605
Retained earnings	696,543	691,547
Accumulated other comprehensive income	9,690	9,568
Total Owens & Minor, Inc. shareholders' equity	1,031,385	1,023,913
Noncontrolling interest	_	1,130
Total equity	1,031,385	1,025,043
Total liabilities and equity	\$2,363,811	\$2,324,042

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

# Table of Contents

Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited)

	Six Months	Ended June 30,
(in thousands)	2014	2013
Operating activities:		
Net income	\$45,362	\$54,970
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	27,756	24,905
Share-based compensation expense	4,190	3,449
Provision for losses on accounts and notes receivable	334	315
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense	(5,151	) 5,777
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Accounts and notes receivable	28,477	1,789
Merchandise inventories	(48,575	) (31,176
Accounts payable	54,922	191,406
Net change in other assets and liabilities	(32,765	) (69,462
Other, net	(1,078	) (2,794
Cash provided by operating activities	73,472	179,179
Investing activities:		
Additions to property and equipment	(25,657	) (16,221 )
Additions to computer software and intangible assets	(13,166	) (14,826
Proceeds from sale of investment	1,937	_
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment	45	68
Cash used for investing activities	(36,841	) (30,979
Financing activities:		
Cash dividends paid	(31,564	) (30,411
Repurchases of common stock	(9,448	) (8,297
Excess tax benefits related to share-based compensation	444	550
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	1,180	4,195
Purchase of noncontrolling interest	(1,500	) —
Other, net	(4,441	) (5,167
Cash used for financing activities	(45,329	) (39,130
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	(1,180	) 868
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(9,878	) 109,938
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	101,905	97,888
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$92,027	\$207,826
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:		
Income taxes paid, net	\$40,680	\$40,364
Interest paid	\$7,402	\$7,691
_		

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

# **Table of Contents**

Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (unaudited)

	Owens &	Minor, Inc. S	Shareholders	Equity					
(in thousands, except per share data)	Common Shares Outstandin	Common Stock (\$ 2 par	Paid-In Capital	Retained Earnings	Other	rehensive In	Noncontrolli d <b>onac</b> est	ո <b>ি</b> otal Equity	
Balance December 31, 2012	63,271	\$126,544	\$187,394	\$658,994		06 )	\$ 1,130	\$973,656	
Net income				54,970				54,970	
Other comprehensive income					(5,752	2 )		(5,752	)
Dividends declared (\$0.48 per share)				(30,324)				(30,324	)
Shares repurchased and retired	d (257 )	(515)		(7,782)				(8,297	)
Share-based compensation expense, exercises and other	, 319	636	4,932					5,568	
Balance June 30, 2013	63,333	\$126,665	\$192,326	\$675,858	\$ (6	,158 )	\$ 1,130	\$989,821	
Balance December 31, 2013 Net income Other comprehensive income	63,096	\$126,193	\$196,605	\$691,547 45,362	\$ 9,5 122	568	\$ 1,130	\$1,025,043 45,362 122	
Dividends declared (\$0.50 per share)				(31,473)				(31,473	)
Shares repurchased and retired	d (277 )	(555)		(8,893)				(9,448	)
Share-based compensation expense, exercises and other	, 247	495	3,109					3,604	
Purchase of noncontrolling interest			(695)				(1,130 )	(1,825	)
Balance June 30, 2014	63,066	\$126,133	\$199,019	\$696,543	\$ 9,0	690	\$ —	\$1,031,385	

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

#### **Table of Contents**

Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

(in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

**Basis of Presentation** 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Owens & Minor, Inc. and the subsidiaries it controls (we, us, or our) and contain all adjustments (which are comprised only of normal recurring accruals and use of estimates) necessary to conform with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). During the quarter, we purchased the remaining outside stockholder's interest in a consolidated subsidiary that was partially owned. Therefore we no longer present a noncontrolling interest as a component of equity as of June 30, 2014. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full year.

#### Reclassification and Correction

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. In addition, after completing a review of customer contracts in the International segment in the fourth quarter of 2013, we determined a net presentation of revenues for certain contracts is more representative of the customer arrangement. Certain amounts in the prior period statement of income were revised to reflect this net presentation of revenues. As a result, prior year net revenue and cost of goods sold each decreased by \$30.6 million for the three month period and \$59.9 million for the six month period ended June 30, 2013. The change did not affect cash flows, gross margin, operating earnings or net income in 2013.

#### Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make assumptions and estimates that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

#### Note 2—Fair Value

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, financing receivables, accounts payable and financing payables included in the consolidated balance sheets approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes for the identical liability when traded as an asset in an active market (Level 1) or, if quoted market prices or dealer quotes are not available, on the borrowing rates currently available for loans with similar terms, credit ratings and average remaining maturities (Level 2). See Note 7 for the fair value of long-term debt.

#### Note 3—Financing Receivables and Payables

At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had financing receivables of \$174.6 million and \$198.5 million and related payables of \$134.3 million and \$165.3 million outstanding under our order-to-cash program and product financing arrangements, which were included in other current assets and other current liabilities, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets.

#### Note 4—Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill through June 30, 2014:

	Domestic	International	Total
	Segment	Segment	Total
Carrying amount of goodwill, December 31, 2013	\$248,498	\$26,941	\$275,439
Currency translation adjustments	_	536	536
Carrying amount of goodwill, June 30, 2014	\$248,498	\$27,477	\$275,975

#### **Table of Contents**

Intangible assets at June 30, 2014, and December 31, 2013, were as follows:

	June 30, 2014		December 31, 2	2013	
	Customer	stomer Other Customer		Other	
	Relationships	Intangibles	Relationships	Intangibles	
Gross intangible assets	\$52,047	\$4,012	\$51,544	\$3,933	
Accumulated amortization	(16,669)	(711)	(14,281)	(790)	
Net intangible assets	\$35,378	\$3,301	\$37,263	\$3,143	

At June 30, 2014, \$16.8 million in net intangible assets were held in the Domestic segment and \$21.8 million were held in the International segment. Amortization expense for intangible assets was \$1.1 million and \$1.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 and \$2.2 million and \$1.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

Based on the current carrying value of intangible assets subject to amortization, estimated amortization expense is \$2.3 million for the remainder of 2014, \$5.1 million for 2015, \$5.2 million for 2016, \$5.0 million for 2017 and \$4.1 million for 2018.

Note 5—Exit and Realignment Costs

We periodically incur exit and realignment and other charges associated with optimizing our operations, which includes the consolidation of distribution centers, the realignment of our distribution network, and the closure of offsite warehouses.

For the six months ended June 30, 2014, we recognized \$6.7 million in total charges associated with exit and realignment activities. Of this amount, \$4.1 million was incurred in the current quarter, of which \$2.3 million was in the Domestic segment and \$1.8 million was in the International segment. These charges include \$2.2 million in estimated severance accruals. The remaining charges of \$1.9 million were comprised of costs that were expensed as incurred in the quarter and not reflected in the table below, including \$0.9 million in property related costs, \$0.7 million in labor costs, and \$0.2 million in information technology costs. Charges in the first quarter of 2014 were \$2.6 million, of which \$1.3 million was in the Domestic segment and \$1.3 million was in the International segment. These charges included \$1.3 million in loss accruals associated with our operating leases and estimated severance. The remaining charges of \$1.3 million were comprised of costs that were expensed as incurred in the first quarter and not reflected in the table below, including \$0.5 million in relocation costs, \$0.5 million in property related costs, and \$0.3 million in labor and other costs. We expect additional exit and realignment charges of approximately \$5.0 million over the remainder of 2014 for activities initiated in the Domestic and International segments through June 30, 2014. For the six month period ended June 30, 2013, we recognized total charges of \$1.8 million. The second quarter 2013 charges of \$0.4 million were expensed as incurred in the Domestic segment. During the first quarter of 2013, we recognized total charges of \$1.4 million, of which \$0.9 million was in the Domestic segment and \$0.5 million in the International segment. These charges included \$0.5 million in loss accruals for operating leases. The remaining charges of \$0.9 million were comprised of costs that were expensed as incurred and not reflected in the table below, including losses on property and equipment and other expenses.

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table summarizes the activity related to exit and realignment cost accruals through June 30, 2014 and 2013:

	Lease		Severance an	d	Total		
	Obligations		Other		<b># 2</b> 000		
Accrued exit and realignment costs, December 31, 2013	\$2,434		\$475		\$2,909		
Provision for exit and realignment activities	532		807		1,339		
Cash payments, net of sublease income	(411	)	(327	)	(738	)	
Accrued exit and realignment costs, March 31, 2014	2,555		955		3,510		
Provision for exit and realignment activities	6		\$2,236		\$2,242		
Cash payments, net of sublease income	(383	)	\$(1,095	)	\$(1,478	)	
Accrued exit and realignment costs, June 30, 2014	\$2,178		\$2,096		\$4,274		
Accrued exit and realignment costs, December 31, 2012	\$5,098		\$1,116		\$6,214		
Provision for exit and realignment activities	538		3		541		
Cash payments, net of sublease income	(4,844	)	(147	)	(4,991	)	
Accrued exit and realignment costs, March 31, 2013	792		972		1,764		
Cash payments, net of sublease income	(118	)	(137	)	(255	)	
Accrued exit and realignment costs, June 30, 2013	\$674		\$835		\$1,509		
Note 6 Datirament Blan							

Note 6—Retirement Plan

We have a noncontributory, unfunded retirement plan for certain officers and other key employees in the United States. Certain of our foreign subsidiaries also have defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of their respective employees.

The components of net periodic benefit cost, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,		Six Months	Ended June 30,
	2014	2013	2014	2013
Service cost	\$40	\$33	\$75	\$66
Interest cost	482	413	965	827
Recognized net actuarial loss	202	341	406	683
Net periodic benefit cost	\$724	\$787	\$1,446	\$1,576

Certain of our foreign subsidiaries have health and welfare plans covering substantially all of their respective employees. Our expense for these plans totaled \$0.5 million and \$0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 and \$1.0 million and \$0.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

Note 7—Debt

We have \$200 million of senior notes outstanding, which mature on April 15, 2016 and bear interest at 6.35% payable semi-annually (Senior Notes). We may redeem the Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price of the greater of 100% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes or the present value of remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted at the applicable Treasury Rate plus 0.25%. As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the estimated fair value of the Senior Notes was \$215 million and \$219 million, and the related carrying amount was \$204 million for both periods. The observed yield of the Senior Notes at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 was 1.91% and 2.12%.

We have a five-year \$350 million Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and a syndicate of financial institutions (the Credit Agreement) expiring June 5, 2017. Under the Credit Agreement, we have the ability to request two one-year extensions and to request an increase in aggregate commitments by up to \$150 million. The interest rate on the Credit Agreement, which is subject to adjustment quarterly, is based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), the Federal Funds Rate or the Prime Rate, plus an adjustment based on the better of our debt ratings or leverage ratio (Credit Spread) as defined by the Credit Agreement. We are charged a commitment fee of between 17.5 and 42.5 basis points on the unused portion of the facility. The terms of the Credit Agreement limit the amount of indebtedness that we may incur and require us to maintain ratios for leverage and interest

coverage, including on a pro forma basis in the event of an

#### **Table of Contents**

acquisition. At June 30, 2014, we had no borrowings and letters of credit of approximately \$5.0 million outstanding under the Credit Agreement, leaving \$345.0 million available for borrowing. We also have a \$1.5 million letter of credit outstanding as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, which supports our facilities leased in Europe. Note 8—Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 41.1% and 40.9% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, compared to 38.3% and 39.9% in the same periods of 2013. The change in rate is mainly due to the impact of foreign taxes and the effect of certain acquisition-related costs which are not deductible for tax purposes. The liability for unrecognized tax benefits was \$5.0 million at June 30, 2014, and \$4.6 million at December 31, 2013. Included in the liability at June 30, 2014 were \$3.7 million of tax positions for which ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility.

Note 9—Net Income per Common Share

The following summarizes the calculation of net income per common share attributable to common shareholders for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

	Three Mor	Ended Jun	Six Month	Ended June	e			
	30,			30,				
(in thousands, except per share data)	2014		2013		2014		2013	
Numerator:								
Net income	\$19,876		\$28,872		\$45,362		\$54,970	
Less: income allocated to unvested restricted shares	(159	)	(156	)	(345	)	(351	)
Net income attributable to common shareholders - basic	19,717		28,716		45,017		54,619	
Add: undistributed income attributable to unvested restricted shares - basic	19		64		68		122	
Less: undistributed income attributable to unvested restricted shares - diluted	(19	)	(64	)	(68	)	(122	)
Net income attributable to common shareholders - diluted	1 \$19,717		\$28,716		\$45,017		\$54,619	
Denominator:								
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic	62,311		62,707		62,271		62,695	
Dilutive shares - stock options	5		45		9		51	
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted	62,316		62,752		62,280		62,746	
Net income per share attributable to common								
shareholders:								
Basic	\$0.32		\$0.46		\$0.72		\$0.87	
Diluted	\$0.32		\$0.46		\$0.72		\$0.87	
N . 10 Cl 1 11 15 1								

Note 10—Shareholders' Equity

In February 2014, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to \$100 million of our outstanding common stock to be executed at the discretion of management over a three-year period, expiring in February 2017. The program is intended, in part, to offset shares issued in conjunction with our stock incentive plans and return capital to shareholders. The program may be suspended or discontinued at any time. During the six months ended June 30, 2014, we repurchased in open-market transactions and retired approximately 0.3 million shares of our common stock for an aggregate of \$9.5 million, or an average price per share of \$34.30. As of June 30, 2014, we have approximately \$90.5 million remaining under the repurchase program. We have elected to allocate any excess of share repurchase price over par value to retained earnings.

# **Table of Contents**

Note 11—Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table shows the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013:

Defined Benefit, Currency

Defined Benefi Pension Plans	ït	Currency Translation Adjustments		Other		Total	
\$ (6,372	)	\$16,359		\$146		\$10,133	
_		(570	)	29		(541	)
_		_		_		_	
_		(570	)	29		(541	)
202		_		(22	)	180	
(90	)	_		8		(82	)
112		_		(14	)	98	
112		(570	)	15		(443	)
\$ (6,260	)	\$15,789		\$161		\$9,690	
\$(10,110	)	\$1,922		\$150		\$(8,038	)
_		1,739		_		1,739	
_		(56	)			(56	)
_		1,683				1,683	
341		_		(20	)	321	
(132	)	_		8		(124	)
209		_		(12	)	197	
209		1,683		(12	)	1,880	
\$(9,901	)	\$3,605		\$138		\$(6,158	)
	Pension Plans \$ (6,372	Pension Plans \$ (6,372 )	Plans       Adjustments         \$ (6,372)       ) \$16,359         —       (570)         —       (570)         202       —         (90)       ) —         112       —         112       (570)         \$ (6,260)       ) \$15,789         \$ (10,110)       ) \$1,922         —       1,739         —       (56)         —       1,683         341       —         (132       ) —         209       —         209       1,683	Pension Plans Adjustments \$ (6,372 ) \$ 16,359  -	Pension Plans       Translation Adjustments       Other Adjustments         \$ (6,372)       \$ 16,359       \$ 146         —       (570)       29         —       —       —         —       (570)       29         202       —       (22         (90)       )       —       8         112       —       (14         112       (570)       )       15         \$ (6,260)       \$ 15,789       \$ 161         \$ (10,110)       )       \$ 1,739       —         —       —       1,683       —         —       —       1,683       —         341       —       (20         (132       )       —       8         209       —       (12         209       1,683       (12	Pension Plans       Translation Adjustments       Other Adjustments         \$ (6,372)       \$ 16,359       \$ 146         —       (570)       29         —       —       —         —       (570)       29         202       —       (22)       )         (90)       )       —       8         112       —       (14)       )         112       (570)       )       15         \$ (6,260)       )       \$ 15,789       \$ 161         \$ (10,110)       )       \$ 1,922       \$ 150         —       1,683       —       —         —       1,683       —       —         341       —       (20)       )         (132       )       —       8         209       —       (12)       )         209       1,683       (12)       )	Pension Plans       Translation Adjustments       Other Adjustments       Total         \$ (6,372)       \$ 16,359       \$ 146       \$ 10,133         —       (570)       ) 29       (541)         —       —       —       —         —       (570)       ) 29       (541)         202       —       (22)       ) 180         (90)       ) —       8       (82)         112       —       (144)       ) 98         112       (570)       ) 15       (443)         \$ (6,260)       ) \$ 15,789       \$ 161       \$ 9,690         \$ (10,110)       ) \$ 1,922       \$ 150       \$ (8,038)         —       1,739       —       1,739         —       (56)       ) —       (56)         —       1,683       —       1,683         341       —       (20)       ) 321         (132)       ) —       8       (124)         209       —       (12)       ) 1,880

#### **Table of Contents**

	Defined Benefi Pension Plans	ït	Currency Translation Adjustments		Other		Total	
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), December 31, 2013	\$ (6,479	)	\$15,892		\$155		\$9,568	
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications	_		(103	)	31		(72	)
Income tax	_				_			
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications, net of tax	_		(103	)	31		(72	)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	406		_		(41	)	365	
Income tax	(187	)			16		(171	)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	219		_		(25	)	194	
Other comprehensive income (loss)	219		(103	)	6		122	
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), June 30, 2014	\$ (6,260	)	\$15,789		\$161		\$9,690	
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), December 31, 2012	\$(10,318	)	\$9,749		\$163		\$(406	)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications	_		(6,683	)	_		(6,683	)
Income tax	_		539		_		539	
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications, net of tax	_		(6,144	)	_		(6,144	)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	683		_		(41	)	642	
Income tax	(266	)			16		(250	)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	417		_		(25	)	392	
Other comprehensive income (loss)	417		(6,144	)	(25	)	(5,752	)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), June 30, 2013	\$ (9,901	)	\$3,605		\$138		\$(6,158	)

We include amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income related to defined benefit pension plans as a component of net periodic pension cost recorded in selling, general & administrative expenses. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we reclassified \$0.2 million and \$0.4 million of actuarial net losses. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, we reclassified \$0.3 million and \$0.7 million of actuarial net losses.

Note 12—Commitments and Contingencies

We have contractual obligations that are required to be paid to customers in the event that certain contractual performance targets are not achieved as of specified dates, generally within 36 months from inception of the contract. These contingent obligations totaled \$1.4 million as of June 30, 2014. If none of the performance targets are met as of the specified dates, and customers have met their contractual commitments, payment will be due as follows: 2014 - \$0.9 million; 2015 - \$0.2 million; 2016 -\$0.3 million. None of these contingent obligations were accrued at June 30, 2014, as we do not consider any of them probable. We deferred the recognition of fees that are contingent upon our future performance under the terms of these contracts. As of June 30, 2014, \$0.9 million of deferred revenue related to outstanding contractual performance targets was included in other current liabilities.

Prior to exiting the direct-to-consumer business in January 2009, we received reimbursements from Medicare, Medicaid, and private healthcare insurers for certain customer billings. We are subject to audits of these

reimbursements for up to seven years from the date of the service.

Various issues and claims related to the acquisition and transition of Movianto remain outstanding and under review and discussion with the former owner. The ultimate outcomes of these issues and claims, including their impact on future financial results, cannot be ascertained or estimated at this time.

### **Table of Contents**

During the second quarter, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire all outstanding shares of Medical Action Industries Inc. (Medical Action) for \$13.80 per share in cash, representing a total transaction value of approximately \$208 million, including assumed debt, net of cash. The transaction, which is expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2014, is subject to customary closing conditions, including Medical Action shareholder approval and regulatory clearances.

### Note 13—Segment Information

We evaluate the performance of our segments based on the operating earnings of the segments, excluding acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges.

The following tables present financial information by segment:

	Three Months		e 30,		Enc	led June 30,	
	2014	2013		2014		2013	
Net revenue:							
Domestic	\$2,187,535	\$2,143,69	91	\$4,336,451		\$4,298,406	
International	118,323	92,386		225,788		184,055	
Consolidated net revenue	\$2,305,858	\$2,236,0	77	\$4,562,239		\$4,482,461	
Operating earnings (loss):							
Domestic	\$48,317	\$51,245		\$101,053		\$104,151	
International	(3,623	(557	)	(6,811	)	(3,569	)
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment	(7.502	. (620	,	(10.055	(	(2.640	,
charges	(7,593	(638	)	(10,855	)	(2,648	)
Consolidated operating earnings	\$37,101	\$50,050		\$83,387		\$97,934	
Depreciation and amortization:							
Domestic	\$8,812	\$8,887		\$17,787		\$17,969	
International	5,080	3,389		9,969		6,936	
Consolidated depreciation and amortization	\$13,892	\$12,276		\$27,756		\$24,905	
Capital expenditures:							
Domestic	\$18,858	\$12,872		\$29,033		\$24,474	
International	5,737	3,398		9,790		6,573	
Consolidated capital expenditures	\$24,595	\$16,270		\$38,823		\$31,047	
			June	30, 2014	De 20	ecember 31,	
Total assets:							
Domestic			\$1,7	87,026	\$1	,747,572	
International			484,	758	47	4,565	
Segment assets			2,27	1,784	2,2	222,137	
Cash and cash equivalents			92,02	27		1,905	
Consolidated total assets			\$2,3	63,811		2,324,042	
			-			· ·	

### **Table of Contents**

#### Note 14—Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

The following tables present condensed consolidating financial information for: Owens & Minor, Inc. (O&M); the guarantors of Owens & Minor, Inc.'s Senior Notes, on a combined basis; and the non-guarantor subsidiaries of the Senior Notes, on a combined basis. The guarantor subsidiaries are 100% owned by Owens & Minor, Inc. Separate financial statements of the guarantor subsidiaries are not presented because the guarantees by our guarantor subsidiaries are full and unconditional, as well as joint and several, and we believe the condensed consolidating financial information is more meaningful in understanding the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the guarantor subsidiaries.

C									
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014	Owens & Minor, Inc.		Guarantor Subsidiaries		Non-guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations		Consolidated	
Statements of Income									
Net revenue	<b>\$</b> —		\$2,187,130		\$137,683	\$(18,955	)	\$2,305,858	
Cost of goods sold			1,978,815		63,299	(18,528	)	2,023,586	
Gross margin			208,315		74,384	(427	)	282,272	
Selling, general and administrative expenses	61		152,122		73,655	_		225,838	
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges	_		3,886		3,707	_		7,593	
Depreciation and amortization	2		8,790		5,100	_		13,892	
Other operating income, net			(814	)	(1,338 )			(2,152	)
Operating earnings (loss)	(63	)	44,331		(6,740 )	(427	)	37,101	
Interest expense (income), net	2,924		791		(373)			3,342	
Income (loss) before income taxes	(2,987	)	43,540		(6,367)	(427	)	33,759	
Income tax (benefit) provision	(1,200	)	17,808		(2,725)	_		13,883	
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries	21,663				_	(21,663	)	_	
Net income (loss)	19,876		25,732			(22,090	)	19,876	
Other comprehensive income (loss)	(443	)	111		(570)	459		(443	)
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$19,433		\$25,843		\$(4,212)	\$(21,631	)	\$19,433	
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013	Owens & Minor, Inc.		Guarantor Subsidiaries		Non-guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations		Consolidated	
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 Statements of Income					-	Eliminations		Consolidated	
					-	Eliminations \$(11,758	)	Consolidated \$2,236,077	
Statements of Income	Minor, Inc.		Subsidiaries		Subsidiaries		)		
Statements of Income Net revenue	Minor, Inc.		Subsidiaries \$2,143,576		Subsidiaries \$104,259	\$(11,758	)))	\$2,236,077	
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold	Minor, Inc.		Subsidiaries \$2,143,576 1,932,112		\$104,259 42,201	\$(11,758 (11,667	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646	
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative	Minor, Inc. \$— —		\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464		\$104,259 42,201 62,058	\$(11,758 (11,667	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431	
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and	Minor, Inc. \$— —		\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464 152,387		\$104,259 42,201 62,058 59,940	\$(11,758 (11,667	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431 212,548	
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges	\$—		\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464 152,387	)	\$104,259 42,201 62,058 59,940	\$(11,758 (11,667	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431 212,548 638 12,276	)
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization	\$—	)	\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464 152,387 397 8,865	)	\$104,259 42,201 62,058 59,940 241 3,408	\$(11,758 (11,667	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431 212,548 638 12,276	)
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net	\$— s— 221 — 3 —	)	\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464 152,387 397 8,865 (1,498	)	\$104,259 42,201 62,058 59,940 241 3,408 (583 )	\$(11,758 (11,667 (91 —	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431 212,548 638 12,276 (2,081	)
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss) Interest expense (income), net Income (loss) before income taxes	\$Minor, Inc. \$— 221 3 (224 5,154 (5,378	)	\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464 152,387 397 8,865 (1,498 51,313 (1,696 53,009	)	\$104,259 42,201 62,058 59,940 241 3,408 (583 ) (948 ) (210 ) (738 )	\$(11,758 (11,667 (91 —	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431 212,548 638 12,276 (2,081 50,050 3,248 46,802	)
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss) Interest expense (income), net Income (loss) before income taxes Income tax (benefit) provision	\$\text{Minor, Inc.} \$	)	\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464 152,387 397 8,865 (1,498 51,313 (1,696	)	\$104,259 42,201 62,058 59,940 241 3,408 (583 ) (948 ) (210 )	\$(11,758 (11,667 (91 — — — — (91 — (91 (1	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431 212,548 638 12,276 (2,081 50,050 3,248	)
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss) Interest expense (income), net Income (loss) before income taxes Income tax (benefit) provision Equity in earnings of subsidiaries	\$Minor, Inc. \$—	)	\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464 152,387 397 8,865 (1,498 51,313 (1,696 53,009 20,594	)	\$104,259 42,201 62,058 59,940 241 3,408 (583 ) (948 ) (210 ) (738 ) (618 )	\$(11,758 (11,667 (91 — — — — (91 — (91 (1 (32,205	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431 212,548 638 12,276 (2,081 50,050 3,248 46,802 17,930	)
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss) Interest expense (income), net Income (loss) before income taxes Income tax (benefit) provision Equity in earnings of subsidiaries Net income (loss)	\$\text{Minor, Inc.} \$	)	\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464 152,387 397 8,865 (1,498 51,313 (1,696 53,009 20,594 — 32,415	)	\$104,259 42,201 62,058 59,940 241 3,408 (583 ) (948 ) (210 ) (738 ) (618 ) — (120 )	\$(11,758 (11,667 (91 ———————————————————————————————————	)))	\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431 212,548 638 12,276 (2,081 50,050 3,248 46,802 17,930 — 28,872	)
Statements of Income Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss) Interest expense (income), net Income (loss) before income taxes Income tax (benefit) provision Equity in earnings of subsidiaries	\$\text{Minor, Inc.} \$	)	\$2,143,576 1,932,112 211,464 152,387 397 8,865 (1,498 51,313 (1,696 53,009 20,594	)	\$104,259 42,201 62,058 59,940 241 3,408 (583 ) (948 ) (210 ) (738 ) (618 )	\$(11,758 (11,667 (91 — — — — (91 — (91 (1 (32,205		\$2,236,077 1,962,646 273,431 212,548 638 12,276 (2,081 50,050 3,248 46,802 17,930	)

# Table of Contents

Six Months Ended June 30, 2014	Owens & Minor, Inc.		Guarantor Subsidiaries		Non-guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations		Consolidated	
Net revenue	\$		\$4,335,495		\$257,558	\$(30,814	)	\$4,562,239	
Cost of goods sold			3,918,280		110,897	(30,406	)	3,998,771	
Gross margin			417,215		146,661	(408	)	563,468	
Selling, general and administrative expenses	14		306,372		145,062	_		451,448	
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges	_		5,180		5,675	_		10,855	
Depreciation and amortization	1		17,741		10,014			27,756	
Other operating income, net	_		(7,877	)	(2,101)			(9,978	)
Operating earnings (loss)	(15	)	95,799		(11,989)	(408	)	83,387	
Interest expense (income), net	5,399		2,034		(844)			6,589	
Income (loss) before income taxes	(5,414	)	93,765		(11,145)	(408	)	76,798	
Income tax (benefit) provision	(2,155	)	37,994		(4,403)			31,436	
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries	48,621					(48,621	)	_	
Net income (loss)	45,362		55,771		(6,742)	(49,029	)	45,362	
Other comprehensive income (loss)	122		218		(103)	(115	)	122	
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$45,484		\$55,989		\$(6,845)	\$(49,144	)	\$45,484	
	Owens &		Guarantor		Non augmented				
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013	Minor, Inc.		Subsidiaries		Non-guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations		Consolidated	
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013  Net revenue					-	Eliminations \$(22,069	)	Consolidated \$4,482,461	
	Minor, Inc.		Subsidiaries		Subsidiaries		)		
Net revenue	Minor, Inc.		Subsidiaries \$4,298,290		Subsidiaries \$206,240	\$(22,069	)	\$4,482,461	
Net revenue Cost of goods sold	Minor, Inc.		Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204		Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483	\$(22,069 (21,708	)	\$4,482,461 3,929,979	
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative	Minor, Inc. \$— —		Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086		Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757	\$(22,069 (21,708	)	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482	
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and	Minor, Inc. \$— —		Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086 308,735		Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757 120,660	\$(22,069 (21,708	) )	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482 430,269	
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges	Minor, Inc. \$— — — 874		Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086 308,735 1,259	)	Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757 120,660 1,389	\$(22,069 (21,708	) )	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482 430,269 2,648	)
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization	Minor, Inc. \$— — — 874	)	Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086 308,735 1,259 17,924	)	Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757 120,660 1,389 6,974	\$(22,069 (21,708	)	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482 430,269 2,648 24,905	)
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net	Minor, Inc. \$— — 874 — 7 —	)	Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086 308,735 1,259 17,924 (2,142		Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757 120,660 1,389 6,974 (1,132 )	\$(22,069 (21,708 (361 ————————————————————————————————————	)	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482 430,269 2,648 24,905 (3,274	)
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss)	Minor, Inc. \$— — 874 — 7 — (881		Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086 308,735 1,259 17,924 (2,142 104,310		Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757 120,660 1,389 6,974 (1,132 ) (5,134 )	\$(22,069 (21,708 (361 ————————————————————————————————————	)	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482 430,269 2,648 24,905 (3,274 97,934	)
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss) Interest expense (income), net	Minor, Inc. \$— — 874 — 7 — (881 9,549		Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086 308,735 1,259 17,924 (2,142 104,310 (2,585		Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757 120,660 1,389 6,974 (1,132 ) (5,134 ) (518 )	\$(22,069 (21,708 (361 — — — — (361 —	)	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482 430,269 2,648 24,905 (3,274 97,934 6,446	)
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss) Interest expense (income), net Income (loss) before income taxes	Minor, Inc. \$— — 874 — 7 — (881 9,549 (10,430	)	Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086 308,735 1,259 17,924 (2,142 104,310 (2,585 106,895		Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757 120,660 1,389 6,974 (1,132 ) (5,134 ) (518 ) (4,616 )	\$(22,069 (21,708 (361 — — — — (361 —	)	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482 430,269 2,648 24,905 (3,274 97,934 6,446 91,488 36,518	)
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss) Interest expense (income), net Income (loss) before income taxes Income tax (benefit) provision	Minor, Inc. \$—   874   7   (881  9,549  (10,430  (4,007	)	Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086 308,735 1,259 17,924 (2,142 104,310 (2,585 106,895		Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757 120,660 1,389 6,974 (1,132 ) (5,134 ) (5,134 ) (5,18 ) (4,616 ) (1,526 )	\$(22,069 (21,708 (361 — — — — (361 — (361 —	)))))	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482 430,269 2,648 24,905 (3,274 97,934 6,446 91,488 36,518	)
Net revenue Cost of goods sold Gross margin Selling, general and administrative expenses Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges Depreciation and amortization Other operating income, net Operating earnings (loss) Interest expense (income), net Income (loss) before income taxes Income tax (benefit) provision Equity in earnings of subsidiaries	Minor, Inc. \$— — 874 — 7 — (881 9,549 (10,430 (4,007 61,393 54,970	)	Subsidiaries \$4,298,290 3,868,204 430,086 308,735 1,259 17,924 (2,142 104,310 (2,585 106,895 42,051 — 64,844		Subsidiaries \$206,240 83,483 122,757 120,660 1,389 6,974 (1,132 ) (5,134 ) (5,134 ) (5,18 ) (4,616 ) (1,526 )	\$(22,069 (21,708 (361 — — — (361 — (361 — (61,393 (61,754	)))))	\$4,482,461 3,929,979 552,482 430,269 2,648 24,905 (3,274 97,934 6,446 91,488 36,518	)

June 30, 2014	Owens & Minor, Inc.	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non- guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Balance Sheets					
Assets					
Current assets					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$56,792	\$13,098	\$22,137	<b>\$</b> —	\$92,027
Accounts and notes receivable, net	<del></del>	467,878	80,241	(2,940	) 545,179
Merchandise inventories	_	789,732	33,021	(1,871	) 820,882
Other current assets	281	94,250	193,118	195	287,844
Total current assets	57,073	1,364,958	328,517	(4,616	) 1,745,932
Property and equipment, net	_	102,897	104,243	_	207,140
Goodwill, net	_	247,271	28,704	_	275,975
Intangible assets, net	_	16,841	21,838		38,679
Due from O&M and subsidiaries	_	435,286		(435,286	) —
Advances to and investment in	1,582,217		_	(1,582,217	) —
consolidated subsidiaries				(1,302,217	) —
Other assets, net	320	69,262	26,502	1	96,085
Total assets	\$1,639,610	\$2,236,515	\$509,804	\$(2,022,118	) \$2,363,811
Liabilities and equity					
Current liabilities					
Accounts payable	<b>\$</b> —	\$650,725	\$50,863	\$(2,940	) \$698,648
Accrued payroll and related		18,364	11,327		29,691
liabilities					•
Deferred income taxes	_	38,818	133		38,951
Other accrued liabilities	5,938	87,285	157,792		251,015
Total current liabilities	5,938	795,192	220,115	(2,940	) 1,018,305
Long-term debt, excluding current	203,165	6,759	9,174		219,098
portion		0,757	•		217,070
Due to O&M and subsidiaries	399,122		36,825	(435,947	) —
Intercompany debt		138,890	_	(138,890	) —
Deferred income taxes		30,872	11,208		42,080
Other liabilities	_	48,114	4,829		52,943
Total liabilities	608,225	1,019,827	282,151	(577,777	) 1,332,426
Equity					
Common stock	126,133		1,500	(1,500	) 126,133
Paid-in capital	199,019	242,024	258,047	(500,071	) 199,019
Retained earnings (deficit)	696,543	980,988	(47,820)	(933,168	) 696,543
Accumulated other comprehensive	9,690	(6,324)	15,926	(9,602	) 9,690
income (loss)					
Total O&M shareholders' equity	1,031,385	1,216,688	227,653	(1,444,341	) 1,031,385
Noncontrolling Interest	_	_			_
Total equity	1,031,385	1,216,688	227,653	(1,444,341	) 1,031,385
Total liabilities and equity	\$1,639,610	\$2,236,515	\$509,804	\$(2,022,118	) \$2,363,811

December 31, 2013	Owens & Minor, Inc.	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non-guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Balance Sheets	1,11101, 1110.	<b>5 6 6 16 16 16 17 17 18 18</b>	<b>5 6</b> 5 1 <b>6</b> 1 <b>6</b> 1 <b>6</b> 1		
Assets					
Current assets					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$74,391	\$2,012	\$25,502	\$	\$101,905
Accounts and notes receivable, net	<del></del>	496,310	79,722	(3,178	) 572,854
Merchandise inventories	_	750,999	22,128	(1,464	771,663
Other current assets	201	72,049	207,058	202	279,510
Total current assets	74,592	1,321,370	334,410	(4,440	) 1,725,932
Property and equipment, net	2	96,500	95,459		191,961
Goodwill, net		247,271	28,168		275,439
Intangible assets, net		17,881	22,525		40,406
Due from O&M and subsidiaries		377,786		(377,786	) —
Advances to and investments in	1,533,294			(1,533,294	)
consolidated subsidiaries	1,333,294			(1,333,294	) —
Other assets, net	408	63,848	26,048		90,304
Total assets	\$1,608,296	\$2,124,656	\$506,610	\$(1,915,520	) \$2,324,042
Liabilities and equity					
Current liabilities					
Accounts payable	<b>\$</b> —	\$595,865	\$51,185	\$(3,178	) \$643,872
Accrued payroll and related		12,792	10,504		23,296
liabilities					
Deferred income taxes	_	41,464	149	_	41,613
Other current liabilities	6,811	87,795	185,792	_	280,398
Total current liabilities	6,811	737,916	247,630	(3,178	) 989,179
Long-term debt, excluding current	204,028	7,228	2,559		213,815
portion	•	7,220			213,013
Due to O&M and subsidiaries	373,544		2,910	(376,454	) —
Intercompany debt	_	138,890		(138,890	) —
Deferred income taxes		32,173	11,554		43,727
Other liabilities		47,816	4,462		52,278
Total liabilities	584,383	964,023	269,115	(518,522	) 1,298,999
Equity					
Common stock	126,193		1,500	(1,500	) 126,193
Paid-in capital	196,605	242,024	259,864	(501,888	) 196,605
Retained earnings (deficit)	691,547	925,184	(41,029)	(884,155	) 691,547
Accumulated other comprehensive	9,568	(6,575)	16,030	(9,455	) 9,568
income (loss)	7,000	(0,070)	10,000	(>,	, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
Total Owens & Minor, Inc.	1,023,913	1,160,633	236,365	(1,396,998	) 1,023,913
shareholders' equity	,,	,,		(-,- / -,/ / -	
Noncontrolling interest		_	1,130		1,130
Total equity	1,023,913	1,160,633	237,495	(1,396,998	) 1,025,043
Total liabilities and equity	\$1,608,296	\$2,124,656	\$506,610	\$(1,915,520	) \$2,324,042

Six Months Ended June 30, 2014	Owens & Minor, Inc.		Guarantor Subsidiaries		Non-guaranto Subsidiaries	r	Eliminations		Consolidated	
Statements of Cash Flows										
Operating activities: Net income (loss)	\$45,362		\$55,771		\$(6,742	`	\$(49,029	)	\$45,362	
Adjustments to reconcile net	\$45,302		Φ33,771		\$(0,742	,	\$(49,029	,	\$45,502	
income to cash provided by (used										
for) operating activities:										
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries	(48,621	)	_		_		48,621		_	
Depreciation and amortization	1		17,741		10,014				27,756	
Share-based compensation expense	: —		4,190		_				4,190	
Provision for losses on accounts			1.46		100				224	
and notes receivable	_		146		188		_		334	
Deferred income tax expense			(4.117	`	(1.024	`			(5.151	`
(benefit)	_		(4,117	)	(1,034	)			(5,151	)
Changes in operating assets and										
liabilities:										
Accounts and notes receivable	_		28,286		428		(237	)	28,477	
Merchandise inventories	_		(38,733	)	(10,248	)	406		(48,575	)
Accounts payable	_		54,860		(177	)	239		54,922	
Net change in other assets and	(952	)	(15,272	)	(16,541	)			(32,765	)
liabilities	•	,	•	·		,				,
Other, net	(776	)	(280	)	(22	)			(1,078	)
Cash provided by (used for)	(4,986	)	102,592		(24,134	)			73,472	
operating activities	(.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,	102,632		(= 1,10 1	,			, , , , , _	
Investing activities:										
Proceeds from the sale of			1,937						1,937	
investment			,						,	
Additions to property and	_		(16,777	)	(8,880	)			(25,657	)
equipment	1		,		•	ĺ			,	
Additions to computer software and	<u> </u>		(12,256	)	(910	)			(13,166	)
intangible assets										
Proceeds from the sale of property	_		35		10		_		45	
and equipment Cash used for investing activities			(27,061	`	(9,780	`			(36,841	`
Financing activities:			(27,001	)	(9,780	,			(30,041	)
Change in intercompany advances	28,847		(62,995	)	34,148					
Cash dividends paid	(31,564	)	(02,773	,	<del></del>				(31,564	)
Repurchases of common stock	(9,448	)							(9,448	)
Excess tax benefits related to	•	,								,
share-based compensation	444								444	
Proceeds from exercise of stock	1.100								1 100	
options	1,180		_		_				1,180	
Purchase of noncontrolling interest					(1,500	)			(1,500	)
Other, net	(2,072	)	(1,450	)	(919	)			(4,441	)
Cash provided by (used for)	•			`		•				`
financing activities	(12,613	)	(64,445	)	31,729				(45,329	)
Effect of exchange rate changes on					(1,180	`			(1.190	`
cash and cash equivalents					(1,100	)			(1,180	)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(17,599 )	11,086	(3,365	) —	(9,878	)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	74,391	2,012	25,502	_	101,905	
Cash and cash equivalents at end o period	f \$56,792	\$13,098	\$22,137	\$—	\$92,027	

Six months ended June 30, 2013 Statements of Cash Flows	Owens & Minor, Inc.		Guarantor Subsidiaries		Non-guaranto Subsidiaries	r	Eliminations		Consolidated	l
Operating activities: Net income (loss) Adjustments to reconcile net	\$54,970		\$64,844		\$(3,090	)	\$(61,754	)	\$54,970	
income to cash provided by (used for) operating activities: Equity in earnings of subsidiaries Depreciation and amortization Share-based compensation expense	(61,393 7	)	 17,924 3,449		 6,974 		61,393 —			
Provision for losses on accounts	_		297		18		_		315	
and notes receivable Deferred income tax expense Changes in operating assets and	_		7,443		(1,666	)	_		5,777	
liabilities: Accounts and notes receivable Merchandise inventories Accounts payable			3,061 (23,151 151,208	)	426 (8,386 38,500	)	(1,698 361 1,698	)	1,789 (31,176 191,406	)
Net change in other assets and liabilities	636		(24,934	)	(45,164	)	_		(69,462	)
Other, net	(809	)	331		(2,316	)			(2,794	)
Cash provided by (used for) operating activities	(6,589	)	200,472		(14,704	)	_		179,179	
Investing activities: Additions to property and equipment	_		(12,640	)	(3,581	)	_		(16,221	)
Additions to computer software and intangible assets	d		(11,816	)	(3,010	)	_		(14,826	)
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment	_		59		9		_		68	
Cash used for investing activities Financing activities:	_		(24,397	)	(6,582	)	_		(30,979	)
Change in intercompany advances Cash dividends paid Repurchases of common stock	143,569 (30,411 (8,297	)	(174,270 —	)	30,701		_ _ _			)
Excess tax benefits related to share-based compensation	550	Í	_		_		_		550	
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	4,195		_		_		_		4,195	
Other, net	(2,510	)	(1,364	)	(1,293	)	_		(5,167	)
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities	107,096		(175,634	)	29,408		_		(39,130	)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	_		_		868		_		868	
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents	100,507		441		8,990		_		109,938	
The order and the	58,190		13,641		26,057		_		97,888	

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of \$158,697 \$14,082 \$35,047 \$207,826 \$—

period

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Note 15—Recent Accounting Pronouncements

There has been no change in our significant accounting policies from those contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

We adopted an Accounting Standard Update (ASU) issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) for presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on our financial position or results of operations.

On May 28, 2014, the FASB issued an ASU, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. The ASU will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective on January 1, 2017. Early application is not permitted. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. We are evaluating the effect that the ASU will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. We have not yet selected a transition method nor have we determined the effect of the standard on our ongoing financial reporting.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis describes results of operations and material changes in the financial condition
of Owens & Minor, Inc. and its subsidiaries since December 31, 2013. Trends of a material nature are discussed to the
extent known and considered relevant. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements, related notes thereto, and management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of
operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Overview

Owens & Minor, Inc., along with its subsidiaries, (we, us, or our) is a leading national distributor of name-brand medical and surgical supplies and a healthcare logistics company. We report our business under two segments: Domestic and International. The Domestic segment includes all services in the United States relating to our role as a medical supply logistics company serving healthcare providers and manufacturers. The International segment provides third-party logistics for the pharmaceutical and medical device industries in the European market. Segment financial information is provided in Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this quarterly report. Financial highlights. The following table provides a reconciliation of reported operating earnings, net income and net income per diluted common share to non-GAAP measures used by management. GAAP and non-GAAP results discussed below for the six months ended June 30, 2014 include a recovery of \$5.3 million recorded in other operating income, net related to the settlement of a direct purchaser anti-trust class action lawsuit.

	Three Mont	hs Ended June	Six Months E	nded June 30,
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)	2014	2013	2014	2013
Operating earnings, as reported (GAAP)	\$37,101	\$50,050	\$83,387	\$97,934
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges	7,593	638	10,855	2,648
Operating earnings, adjusted (non-GAAP) (Adjusted Operating Earnings)	\$44,694	\$50,688	\$94,242	\$100,582
Adjusted Operating Earnings as a percent of revenue (non-GAAP)	1.94	% 2.27 %	2.07 %	2.24 %
Net income, as reported (GAAP)	\$19,876	\$28,872	\$45,362	\$54,970
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges, net of tax	5,095	412	7,317	1,933
Net income, adjusted (non-GAAP) (Adjusted Net Income	\$24,971	\$29,284	\$52,679	\$56,903
Net income per diluted common share, as reported (GAAP)	\$0.32	\$0.46	\$0.72	\$0.87

Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges, per diluted common share	0.08	_	0.12	0.03
Net income per diluted common share, adjusted (non-GAAP)(Adjusted EPS)	\$0.40	\$0.46	\$0.84	\$0.90

#### **Table of Contents**

Adjusted EPS (non-GAAP) was \$0.40 and \$0.84 for the second quarter and first six months of 2014, \$0.06 below the prior year for both periods. For the second quarter of 2014, Domestic segment operating earnings decreased from the prior year by \$2.9 million to \$48.3 million. The International segment had an operating loss of \$3.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2014 compared to a loss of \$0.6 million for the comparable prior year period. Use of Non-GAAP Measures

This management's discussion and analysis contains financial measures that are not calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). In general, the measures exclude items and charges that (i) management does not believe reflect our core business and relate more to strategic, multi-year corporate activities; or (ii) relate to activities or actions that may have occurred over multiple or in prior periods without predictable trends. Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures internally to evaluate our performance, evaluate the balance sheet, engage in financial and operational planning and determine incentive compensation.

Management provides these non-GAAP financial measures to investors as supplemental metrics to assist readers in assessing the effects of items and events on our financial and operating results and in comparing our performance to that of our competitors. However, the non-GAAP financial measures used by us may be calculated differently from, and therefore may not be comparable to, similarly titled measures used by other companies.

The non-GAAP financial measures disclosed by us should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP, and the financial results calculated in accordance with GAAP and reconciliations to those financial statements set forth above should be carefully evaluated.

Acquisition-related charges were \$3.5 million and \$4.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 compared to \$0.2 million and \$0.9 million for the same periods of 2013. Current year charges consist of transaction costs incurred to perform due diligence and analysis related to targeted acquisitions, as well as costs in Movianto to resolve certain contingencies with the former owner and finalize the transition of certain information technology and administrative functions. Exit and realignment charges of \$4.1 million and \$6.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 are associated with optimizing our operations and include the consolidation of distribution and logistics centers and closure of offsite warehouses in the United States and Europe, as well as other costs associated with our strategic organizational realignment. Similar charges in 2013 totaled \$0.4 million and \$1.8 million in the comparable periods. These charges have been tax effected in the preceding table using a blended income tax rate depending on the amount of charges incurred in different tax jurisdictions. Unless otherwise stated, our analysis hereinafter excludes acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges. More information about these charges is provided in Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this quarterly report.

Acquisition Update. During the second quarter, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire all outstanding shares of Medical Action Industries Inc. (Medical Action) for \$13.80 per share in cash, representing a total transaction value of approximately \$208 million, including assumed debt, net of cash. The transaction, which is expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2014, is subject to customary closing conditions, including Medical Action shareholder approval and regulatory clearances.

**Results of Operations** 

Net revenue.

	Three Months	Ended June 30,	Change		
(Dollars in thousands)	2014	2013	\$	%	
Domestic	\$2,187,535	\$2,143,691	\$43,844	2.0	%
International	118,323	92,386	25,937	28.1	%
Net revenue	\$2,305,858	\$2,236,077	\$69,781	3.1	%
	Six Months E	nded June 30,	Change		
(Dollars in thousands)	2014	2013	\$	%	
Domestic	\$4,336,451	\$4,298,406	\$38,045	0.9	%
International	225,788	184,055	41,733	22.7	%
Net revenue	\$4,562,239	\$4,482,461	\$79,778	1.8	%

Consolidated net revenue improved in our two segments for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2014. In the Domestic segment, the continued trend of growth in our existing large healthcare provider customer accounts and new

#### **Table of Contents**

business exceeded declines from smaller customers in both periods when compared to prior year. Domestic segment growth rates are largely impacted by ongoing market trends including healthcare utilization rates. The increases in the International segment were a result of new buy/sell contracts and growth in fee-for-service business as well as positive impacts from foreign exchange. Fee-for-service business generally represents approximately two-thirds of net revenue in the International segment.

Gross margin.

$\mathcal{E}$					
	Three Month	s Ended June 30,	Change		
(Dollars in thousands)	2014	2013	\$	%	
Gross margin	\$282,272	\$273,431	\$8,841	3.2	%
As a % of net revenue	12.24	% 12.23	%		
	Six Months E	Ended June 30,	Change		
(Dollars in thousands)	2014	2013	\$	%	
Gross margin	\$563,468	\$552,482	\$10,986	2.0	%
As a % of net revenue	12.35	% 12.33	%		

The growth in fee-for-service activity drove the overall improvement in gross margin as the International segment showed \$12.0 million and \$23.4 million increases over the comparable prior year quarter and year to date periods. This was partially offset by declines in the Domestic segment gross margin mainly as a result of lower benefits from supplier price changes in the second quarter and year to date period of 2014 when compared to the prior year, as well as lower margins on new and renewed contracts.

Operating expenses.

Three Months	Ended June 30,		Change			
2014	2013		\$		%	
\$225,838	\$212,548		\$13,290		6.3	%
9.79	% 9.51	%				
\$13,892	\$12,276		\$1,616		13.2	%
\$(2,152	) \$(2,081	)	\$(71	)	3.4	%
Six Months E	nded June 30,		Change			
2014	2013		\$		%	
\$451,448	\$430,269		\$21,179		4.9	%
9.90	% 9.60	%				
\$27,756	\$24,905		\$2,851		11.4	%
\$(9,978	) \$(3,274	)	\$(6,704	)	204.8	%
	2014 \$225,838 9.79 \$13,892 \$(2,152 Six Months E 2014 \$451,448 9.90 \$27,756	\$225,838 \$212,548 9.79 % 9.51 \$13,892 \$12,276 \$(2,152 ) \$(2,081) Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 2013 \$451,448 \$430,269 9.90 % 9.60 \$27,756 \$24,905	2014 2013 \$225,838 \$212,548 9.79 % 9.51 % \$13,892 \$12,276 \$(2,152 ) \$(2,081 ) Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 2013 \$451,448 \$430,269 9.90 % 9.60 % \$27,756 \$24,905	2014 2013 \$ \$225,838 \$212,548 \$13,290 9.79 % 9.51 % \$13,892 \$12,276 \$1,616 \$(2,152 ) \$(2,081 ) \$(71 Six Months Ended June 30, Change 2014 2013 \$ \$451,448 \$430,269 \$21,179 9.90 % 9.60 % \$27,756 \$24,905 \$2,851	2014 2013 \$ \$225,838 \$212,548 \$13,290  9.79 % 9.51 %  \$13,892 \$12,276 \$1,616  \$(2,152 ) \$(2,081 ) \$(71 )  Six Months Ended June 30, Change  2014 2013 \$ \$451,448 \$430,269 \$21,179  9.90 % 9.60 %  \$27,756 \$24,905 \$2,851	2014 2013 \$ % \$225,838 \$212,548 \$13,290 6.3 9.79 % 9.51 % \$13,892 \$12,276 \$1,616 13.2 \$(2,152 ) \$(2,081 ) \$(71 ) 3.4 Six Months Ended June 30, Change 2014 2013 \$ % \$451,448 \$430,269 \$21,179 4.9 9.90 % 9.60 % \$27,756 \$24,905 \$2,851 11.4

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses include labor, warehousing, handling and delivery costs associated with our distribution and logistics services and all costs associated with our fee-for-service arrangements. The costs to convert new customers to our information systems are generally incurred prior to the recognition of revenues from the new customers.

International segment SG&A increased over the prior year for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2014 by \$14.0 million and \$24.6 million, respectively, due mainly to increased salaries and delivery costs associated with higher fee-for-service activity as well as increased costs associated with integrating a significant new customer in the United Kingdom. These increases were partially offset by declines in the Domestic segment driven by cost benefits realized from our strategic initiatives to improve productivity and efficiency.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased for both periods primarily in the International segment due to increases in computer software amortization for assets placed in service and amortization from purchase price accounting adjustments.

### **Table of Contents**

Other operating income, net for the second quarter is comparable to the prior year. The increase in other operating income, net for the six month period ended June 30, 2014 is attributed primarily to the recovery of \$5.3 million from the settlement of a direct purchaser anti-trust class action lawsuit relating to the recovery of costs from purchases of medical devices over a multi-year period, as well as a gain on the sale of an investment and an increase in finance charge income.

Interest expense, net

	Three Months I	Ended June 30,		Change			
(Dollars in thousands)	2014	2013		\$		%	
Interest expense, net	\$3,342	\$3,248		\$94		2.9	%
Effective interest rate	6.12	6.00	%				
	Six Months End	ded June 30,		Change			
(Dollars in thousands)	2014	2013		\$		%	
Interest expense, net	\$6,589	\$6,446		\$143		2.2	%
Effective interest rate	6.10	6.00	%				
Interest expense is consistent with the prior year p	eriod.						
Income taxes.							
	Three Months E	nded June 30,	(	Change			
(Dollars in thousands)	2014	2013		\$	•	%	
Income tax provision	\$13,883	\$17,930		\$(4,047)	) (	(22.6	)%
Effective tax rate	41.1 %	38.3	%				
	Six Months End	ed June 30,	(	Change			
(Dollars in thousands)	2014	2013		\$	•	%	
Income tax provision	\$31,436	\$36,518		\$(5,082)	) (	(13.9	)%
Effective tax rate	40.9 %	39.9	%				

The increase in the effective tax rate, including income taxes on acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges, increased from the prior year periods largely due to the impact of foreign taxes and the effect of certain acquisition-related costs which are not deductible for tax purposes.

#### **Table of Contents**

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial condition. We monitor operating working capital through days sales outstanding (DSO) and merchandise inventory turnover. We estimate a hypothetical increase (decrease) in DSO of one day would result in a decrease (increase) in our cash balances, an increase (decrease) in borrowings against our revolving credit facility, or a combination thereof of approximately \$25 million.

The majority of our cash and cash equivalents are held in cash depository accounts with major banks in the United States and Europe or invested in high-quality, short-term liquid investments. Changes in our working capital can vary in the normal course of business based upon the timing of inventory purchases, collection of accounts receivable, and payment to suppliers.

June 20, 2014	December 31,	Change		
Julie 50, 2014	2013	\$	%	
\$92,027	\$101,905	\$(9,878)	(9.7	)%
\$545,179	\$572,854	\$(27,675)	(4.8	)%
20.6	22.1			
\$820,882	\$771,663	\$49,219	6.4	%
10.2	10.4			
\$698,648	\$643,872	\$54,776	8.5	%
	\$545,179 20.6 \$820,882 10.2	\$92,027 \$101,905 \$545,179 \$572,854 20.6 22.1 \$820,882 \$771,663 10.2 10.4	June 30, 2014       2013       \$         \$92,027       \$101,905       \$(9,878)         \$545,179       \$572,854       \$(27,675)         20.6       22.1         \$820,882       \$771,663       \$49,219         10.2       10.4	June 30, 2014     2013     \$ %       \$92,027     \$101,905     \$(9,878)     ) (9.7       \$545,179     \$572,854     \$(27,675)     ) (4.8       20.6     22.1       \$820,882     \$771,663     \$49,219     6.4       10.2     10.4

- (1) Based on period end accounts receivable and net revenue for the quarter
- (2) Based on average annual inventory and annualized cost of goods sold based on the quarter ended June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013

Liquidity and capital expenditures. The following table summarizes our consolidated statements of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013:

(Dollars in thousands)	2014	2013
Net cash provided by (used for):		
Operating activities	\$73,472	\$179,179
Investing activities	(36,841	) (30,979 )
Financing activities	(45,329	) (39,130
Effect of exchange rate changes	(1,180	) 868
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	\$(9,878	) \$109,938

Cash provided by operating activities was \$73.5 million in the first six months of 2014, compared to \$179.2 million in the same period of 2013. The decrease in cash from operating activities for the first six months of 2014 compared to the same period in 2013 was primarily due to routine changes in working capital including timing of payments. Cash used for investing activities was \$36.8 million in the first six months of 2014, compared to \$31.0 million in the same period of 2013. Investing activities in 2014 and 2013 relate to capital expenditures for our strategic and operational efficiency initiatives, particularly initiatives relating to information technology enhancements and optimizing our distribution network.

Cash used for financing activities in the first six months of 2014 was \$45.3 million, compared to \$39.1 million used in the same period of 2013. During the first six months of 2014, we paid dividends of \$31.6 million, repurchased common stock under a share repurchase program for \$9.4 million of cash, received proceeds of \$1.0 million from the exercise of stock options and purchased the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary for \$1.5 million.

Capital resources. Our sources of liquidity include cash and cash equivalents and a revolving credit facility. We have a five-year \$350 million Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and a syndicate of financial institutions (the Credit Agreement). Under the Credit Agreement, we have the ability to request two one-year extensions and to request an increase in aggregate commitments by up to \$150 million. The interest rate, which is subject to adjustment quarterly, is based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), the Federal Funds Rate or the Prime Rate, plus an adjustment based on the better of our debt ratings or leverage ratio (Credit Spread) as defined by the Credit Agreement. We are charged a commitment fee of between 17.5 and 42.5 basis points on the unused portion of the facility. The terms of the Credit Agreement limit the amount of indebtedness that we may incur and require us to maintain ratios for leverage and interest coverage, including on a pro forma basis in the event of an

acquisition. At June 30, 2014, we had no borrowings and letters of credit of approximately \$5.0 million outstanding on the revolving credit facility, leaving \$345.0 million available for borrowing.

#### **Table of Contents**

We may utilize the revolving credit facility for long-term strategic growth, capital expenditures, working capital and general corporate purposes. If we were unable to access the revolving credit facility, it could impact our ability to fund these needs. During the first six months of 2014, we had no borrowings or repayments under the credit facility. Based on our leverage ratio at June 30, 2014, the interest rate under the credit facility is LIBOR plus 1.375%. We have \$200 million of senior notes outstanding, which mature in 2016 and bear interest at 6.35%, payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15. The revolving credit facility and senior notes contain cross-default provisions which could result in the acceleration of payments due in the event of default of either agreement. We believe we were in compliance with the debt covenants at June 30, 2014.

In the second quarter of 2014, we paid cash dividends on our outstanding common stock at the rate of \$0.25 per share, which represents a 4% increase over the rate of \$0.24 per share paid in the second quarter of 2013. We anticipate continuing to pay quarterly cash dividends in the future. However, the payment of future dividends remains within the discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend upon our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements and other factors.

In February 2014, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to \$100 million of our outstanding common stock to be executed at the discretion of management over a three-year period, expiring in February 2017. The timing of purchases and the number of shares of common stock to be repurchased will be determined by management based upon market conditions and other factors. The program is intended to offset shares issued in conjunction with our stock incentive plan and return capital to shareholders. The program may be suspended or discontinued at any time. During the first six months of 2014, we repurchased approximately 0.3 million shares for \$9.5 million under this program. The remaining amount authorized for repurchases under this program is \$90.5 million at June 30, 2014.

We earn a portion of our operating earnings in foreign jurisdictions outside the U.S., which we consider to be indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly, no U.S. federal and state income taxes and withholding taxes have been provided on these earnings. Our cash, cash-equivalents, short-term investments, and marketable securities held by our foreign subsidiaries totaled \$22.1 million and \$22.2 million as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013. We do not intend, nor do we foresee a need, to repatriate these funds or other assets held outside the U.S. In the future, should we require more capital to fund discretionary activities in the U.S. than is generated by our domestic operations and is available through our borrowings, we could elect to repatriate cash or other assets from foreign jurisdictions that have previously been considered to be indefinitely reinvested. Upon distribution of these assets, we could be subject to additional U.S. federal and state income taxes and withholding taxes payable to foreign jurisdictions, where applicable.

The IRS on January 10, 2014 released final regulations relating to the adjustment of inventory costs for certain sales-based vendor charge-backs and the allowable treatment of these charge-backs in tax LIFO calculations. We are currently analyzing the impact of this regulatory change on our tax LIFO position, which could cause our related deferred tax liability to become due and payable, impacting future cash flow.

We believe available financing sources, including cash generated by operating activities and borrowings under the revolving credit facility, will be sufficient to fund our working capital needs, capital expenditures, long-term strategic growth, payments under long-term debt and lease arrangements, payments of quarterly cash dividends, share repurchases and other cash requirements. While we believe that we will have the ability to meet our financing needs in the foreseeable future, changes in economic conditions may impact (i) the ability of financial institutions to meet their contractual commitments to us, (ii) the ability of our customers and suppliers to meet their obligations to us and/or (iii) our cost of borrowing.

**Recent Accounting Pronouncements** 

For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 15 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended on June 30, 2014.

Forward-looking Statements

Certain statements in this discussion constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Although we believe our expectations with respect to the forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assumptions within the bounds of our knowledge of our business and

operations, all forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ materially from those projected, anticipated or implied by these statements. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, including, but not limited to:

competitive pressures in the marketplace, including intense pricing pressure;

our ability to retain existing and attract new customers in a market characterized by significant customer consolidation and intense cost-containment initiatives;

our dependence on sales to certain customers or the loss or material reduction in purchases by key customers; our dependence on distribution of product of certain suppliers;

#### **Table of Contents**

our ability to successfully identify, manage or integrate acquisitions, including the management and integration of our acquisition of Movianto and our pending acquisition of Medical Action;

our ability to successfully manage our international operations, including risks associated with changes in international trade regulations, foreign currency volatility, changes in regulatory conditions, deteriorating economic conditions, adverse tax consequences, and other risks of operating in international markets;

uncertainties related to and our ability to adapt to changes in government regulations, including healthcare laws and regulations (including the Affordable Care Act);

risks arising from possible violations of legal, regulatory or licensing requirements of the markets in which we operate;

uncertainties related to general economic, regulatory and business conditions;

our ability to successfully implement our strategic initiatives;

the availability of and modifications to existing supplier funding programs and our ability to meet the terms to qualify for certain of these programs;

our ability to adapt to changes in product pricing and other terms of purchase by suppliers of product;

the ability of customers and suppliers to meet financial commitments due

to us

changes in manufacturer preferences between direct sales and wholesale distribution;

changing trends in customer profiles and ordering patterns and our ability to meet customer demand for additional value-added services;

our ability to manage operating expenses and improve operational efficiencies in response to changing customer profiles;

our ability to meet performance targets specified by customer contracts under contractual commitments;

availability of and our ability to access special inventory buying opportunities;

the ability of business partners and financial institutions to perform their contractual responsibilities;

the effect of price volatility in the commodities markets, including fuel price fluctuations, on our operating costs and supplier product prices;

our ability to continue to obtain financing at reasonable rates and to manage financing costs and interest rate risk; the risk that information systems are interrupted or damaged or fail for any extended period of time or that there is a data security breach;

the risk that a decline in business volume or profitability could result in an impairment of goodwill or other long-lived assets;

our ability to timely or adequately respond to technological advances in the medical supply industry;

the costs associated with and outcome of outstanding and any future litigation, including product and professional liability claims;

adverse changes in U.S. and foreign tax laws and the outcome of outstanding tax contingencies and legislative and tax proposals; and

other factors described in "Item 1A. Risk Factors" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, except as required by applicable law. Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates related to our revolving credit facility. We had no outstanding borrowings and approximately \$5 million in letters of credit under the revolving credit facility at June 30, 2014. A hypothetical increase in interest rates of 100 basis points would result in a potential reduction in future pre-tax earnings of approximately \$0.1 million per year for every \$10 million of outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility.

Due to the nature and pricing of our Domestic segment distribution services, we are exposed to potential volatility in fuel prices. Our strategies for helping to mitigate our exposure to changing domestic fuel prices have included entering into leases for trucks with improved fuel efficiency and entering into fixed–price agreements for diesel fuel. We benchmark our

#### **Table of Contents**

domestic diesel fuel purchase prices against the U.S. Weekly Retail On-Highway Diesel Prices (benchmark) as quoted by the U.S. Energy Information Administration. The benchmark averaged \$3.94 per gallon in the first six months of 2014, an increase from \$3.87 per gallon in the first six months of 2013. Based on our fuel consumption in the first six months of 2014, we estimate that every 10 cents per gallon increase in the benchmark would reduce our Domestic segment operating earnings by approximately \$300,000 on an annualized basis.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to foreign currency translation and transaction risks. Our business transactions outside of the United States are primarily denominated in the Euro and British Pound. We may use foreign currency forwards, swaps and options, where possible, to manage our risk related to certain foreign currency fluctuations. However, we believe that our foreign currency transaction risks are low since our revenues and expenses are typically denominated in the same currency.

#### Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, with the participation of management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2014. There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2014, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### Part II. Other Information

### Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Certain legal proceedings pending against us are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. Through June 30, 2014, there have been no material developments in any legal proceedings reported in such Annual Report.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

Certain risk factors that we believe could affect our business and prospects are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. Through June 30, 2014, there have been no material changes in the risk factors described in such Annual Report.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities, Use of Proceeds and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities In February 2014, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to \$100 million of our outstanding common stock to be executed at the discretion of management over a three-year period, expiring in February 2017. The program is intended to offset shares issued in conjunction with our stock incentive plan and return capital to shareholders. The program may be suspended or discontinued at any time. For the three months ended June 30, 2014, we repurchased in open-market transactions and retired 0.1 million shares of our common stock for an aggregate of \$4.5 million, or an average price per share of \$33.70. The following table summarizes share repurchase activity by month during the three months ended June 30, 2014.

Total mumb on of

Total number of shares purchased	Average price paid per share	as part of a	*	
		program	under the program	
_	<b>\$</b> —	_	\$95,000,018	
95,145	\$33.25	95,145	\$91,836,793	
39,286	\$34.35	39,286	\$90,487,451	
134,431		134,431		
	of shares purchased — 95,145 39,286	of shares purchased Per share  Average price paid per share  — \$—  95,145 \$33.25  39,286 \$34.35	Total number of shares purchased per share  Average price paid as part of a publicly announced program  - \$	

28

Marrianna dallar

### **Table of Contents**

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Owens & Minor, Inc.

(Registrant)

Date: July 29, 2014 /s/ Craig R. Smith

Craig R. Smith

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Date: July 29, 2014 /s/ Richard A. Meier

Richard A. Meier

Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

# Table of Contents

# Item 6. Exhibits

(a)Exhibits	
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
10.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 24, 2014 by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., Mongoose Merger Sub Inc. and Medical Action Industries Inc., (incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated June 25, 2014)
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
30	